IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JOHN S. FREUND, )  
 )  
 Petitioner, )  
 )  
 vs. )  
 )  
 STATE OF FLORIDA, )  
 )  
 Respondent. )  
 )  
 \_\_\_\_\_ )

JUL 1 1987

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By: \_\_\_\_\_ Deputy Clerk

CASE NO. 70,565 Deputy Clerk  
(4th DCA No. 4-86-0068)

C  
jpb

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER  
ON THE MERITS

DOUGLAS N. DUNCAN  
CONE, WAGNER, NUGENT, JOHNSON,  
ROTH AND ROMANO, P.A.  
1601 Belvedere Road  
Servico Centre East  
P.O. Box 3466  
West Palm Beach, Florida 33402  
Tele: (305)-684-9000  
Attorneys for Petitioner

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Petitioner was the Defendant in the Criminal Division of the Circuit Court of the Fifteenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Palm Beach County, Florida, and the Appellant in the Fourth District Court of Appeal for the State of Florida. The Respondent was the prosecution in the trial court, and the Appellee in the appellate court. In this Brief, the parties will be referred to by Petitioner and Respondent.

The following symbols will be used:

"R" Record-on-Appeal, Fourth DCA Case No.  
4-86-0068

"SR" Supplemental Record-on-Appeal  
Fourth DCA Case No. 4-86-0068

"A" Appendix to Petitioner's Initial Brief on  
the Merits.

All emphasis in this Brief is supplied, unless stated otherwise.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Petitioner was arrested on July 31, 1984, for the offense of first degree murder.

On August 14, 1984, the Petitioner filed his Motion to Determine Competency, pursuant to Fla.R.Crim.P., 3.210 (b). (R. 2494-2496).

On August 23, 1984, the Petitioner was indicted along with a co-defendant, John Trent, for the first degree premeditated murder of Ralph Walker. (R. 2502-2503, A.,p. 1).

The trial court conducted evidentiary hearings on the competency of the Petitioner to stand trial. On February 5, 1985, the Honorable Marvin U. Mounts, Jr., declared the Petitioner competent to stand trial. (R. 2504-2506).

On June 4, 1985, the Petitioner filed his Notice of Intent to Rely Upon the Defense of Insanity, pursuant to Fla. R.Crim.P., 3.216 (c). (R. 2601).

On October 21, 1985, the case came before Judge Mounts for a jury trial. At the conclusion of the trial, the Petitioner was found guilty of first degree premeditated murder. (R. 2473). The Petitioner was sentenced to life in prison, with the mandatory minimum twenty-five (25) years. (R. 2490, 2625-2627, A.,p. 2).

The Petitioner timely appealed to the Fourth District Court of Appeal which affirmed his conviction and sentence. (A.,p. 3). The Fourth District Court of Appeal certified the following question as one of great public importance:

WHETHER THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT'S  
HOLDING IN YOHAN V. STATE, 476 SO.2d 123

(FLA. 1986), IS VIOLATED WHEN, PRIOR TO ISSUANCE OF THE YOHN OPINION, A TRIAL COURT INSTRUCTS THE JURY WITH THE OLD STANDARD INSTRUCTION ON INSANITY AND ADDS WITHIN THE CHARGE THE SENTENCE, "THE STATE MUST PROVE BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT THAT THE DEFENDANT WAS SANE." (A.,p. 9).

On May 13, 1987, the Petitioner invoked the discretionary jurisdiction of this Honorable Court. (A., p. 10).



## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Prior to a near fatal suicide attempt in June of 1983, the Petitioner was a practicing medical doctor specializing in the field of oncology he graduated number one from his medical school class at Columbia's Physicians and Surgeons. (R. 2097). After completing his studies at Columbia's Physicians and Surgeons, the Petitioner went on to Johns Hopkins Medical School for a two-year residency in internal medicine and then two additional years in a fellowship in oncology. (R. 2097, 2138).

In 1980 the Petitioner came to West Palm Beach, Florida and set up practice in oncology. Medical colleagues in the West Palm Beach area described the Petitioner during their testimony as not only having excellent technical medical skills, but that he was an exceptional, caring, compassionate physician/oncologist. (R. 1647, 1653, 1665). His patients loved him. (R. 1773). The Petitioner was known to practice medicine seven days a week, twenty-four hours a day. (R. 1649, 1650-1651, 1666). Fellow oncologists testified about the enormous pressures associated with caring day in and day out for dying cancer patients. (R. 1649, 1662). The doctors testified that they purposely spent time away from their practice, so as to cope with the stress and pressures of their profession. (R. 1643, 1663). The doctors testified that the Petitioner was not known to take time off and away from his practice.

The workaholic lifestyle of the Petitioner finally took its toll on him as he was discovered on June 11, 1983, "pur-

plish in color," unconscious and thought to be dead. (R. 1638, 1702-1703). Located near Petitioner's unconscious body was a syringe and several empty bottles of Morphine, Demerol and Dilaluid. (R. 1640). The Petitioner was transported to Good Samaritan Hospital, where he remained in a coma for four to five days. (R. 1710).

As a result of the Petitioner's suicide attempt, he sustained moderate to severe brain damage, particularly to the frontal lobe area of the brain. (R. 1827). Several witnesses testified that thereafter, they noticed significant changes in the Petitioner's personality and intellectual functions. Petitioner displayed problems with his memory, problems with judgment, and consequently, his hospital privileges were suspended. (R. 1654-1655, 1669-1670, 1746, 1751-1752).

The Petitioner's co-defendant, John Trent, a local West Palm Beach businessman, was aware of the mental problems of the Petitioner sustained as a result of his attempted suicide. (R. 1318). Trent had bragged to Eleanor Mills that because of the Petitioner's mental problems, he (Trent) was capable of controlling and manipulating the Petitioner. (R. 1318). Prior to the Petitioner's suicide attempt, the Petitioner had been Trent's mother's doctor.

The State first called Sgt. James Wilburn of the West Palm Beach Police Department. (R. 988).<sup>1</sup> Sgt. Wilburn

---

1. A lengthy recitation of the facts is unavoidably necessary in order for a full and fair review of Petitioner's Point II, infra, concerning the sufficiency of the evidence.

testified that on July 28, 1984, he responded to the House of Draperies, a business owned and operated by John Trent. (R. 1019-1020). While there, Wilburn located within the House of Draperies a van containing a steamer trunk. (R. 997). Inside the steamer trunk was the victim, Ralph Walker wrapped up in plastic. (R. 1008).

Dr. Frederick Hobin, Associate Medical Examiner, testified that he performed an autopsy on the body of Ralph Walker. (R. 1130). During the course of his autopsy, Dr. Hobin discovered six stab wounds. (R. 1134). Dr. Hobin testified that bodily fluids were taken during the autopsy, which later revealed the presence of alcohol, a valium-like drug, and cocaine. (R. 1140). Dr. Hobin did not testify the drug Magnesium Sulfate was detected. Dr. Hobin testified that it was his opinion that Walker died as the result of multiple stab wounds. (R. 1142). He was unable to locate any needle marks on Walker's body. (R. 1146-1147). Dr. Hobin acknowledged that there was no evidence that all six stab wounds had been inflicted by one person. (R. 1148). Dr. Hobin testified that four ampoules of Magnesium Sulfate would not be lethal in and of itself. (R. 1154).

Eleanor Mills testified that while in the Palm Beach County Jail on a fifteen-year mandatory minimum charge of trafficking in cocaine, she was advised that the man who could help her out of her mandatory prison sentence was John Trent. (R. 1261-1265). Mills became friends with Trent, and she viewed him as her "salvation." (R. 1268). On Tuesday, July

24, 1984, Trent invited Mills and her 16-year-old daughter, Lisa Angelilli, to his Palm Beach apartment at the Palm Beach Hotel. (R. 1210). When Mills and her daughter arrived at Trent's apartment early in the afternoon, Trent answered the door while holding a 45-caliber gun. (R. 1211-1212). Mills, Lisa and Trent proceeded to do cocaine for seven (7) hours. (R. 1281). Inbetween snorts of cocaine, Trent was drinking Crown Royal Bourbon. (R. 1213). At some point in the evening, Lisa wanted marijuana. Trent called Ralph Walker and asked him to bring over some marijuana. (R. 1217). Subsequently, Walker arrived with marijuana, and he joined in the party by smoking marijuana, consuming cocaine and drinking alcohol. (R. 1219). Up until the time Walker arrived, Trent acted like a gentleman. (R. 1218-1219). For approximately one hour after Walker arrived, he and Trent talked about violence and were "getting worked up." (R. 1220, 1285-1286). It became obvious to Mills that Walker wanted to engage in sexual relations with Lisa. (R. 1220). About that time, Walker went into another room of Trent's apartment and returned with a baseball bat. He started banging things with the bat. (R. 1221). Walker thereafter picked up a 357-Magnum gun off a table and started toward Mills, Lisa and Trent. (R. 1222). Trent was able to knock the handgun out of Walker's hand, and Trent pulled out his own 45-caliber gun. Trent fired a shot at Walker. (R. 1222). Trent was very upset, saying "[he should blow away Walker right there.]" (R. 1223). Trent told Mills to get some handcuffs, which she did. While

Trent placed the handcuffs on Walker, Mills held the gun on Walker. (R. 1224). Trent continued his threats that "[he (Trent) should kill Walker right then and there.]" (R. 1226). Trent told Walker, "if you move, I will blow you away right here." (R. 1295). Mills testified that long before the Petitioner arrived, Trent had announced Walker was dead, that "he was going home to his momma in a box." (R. 1299). Mills had never seen Trent behave the way he was that evening. (R. 1304). She was of the opinion that Trent was "over the edge." (R. 1305).

Mills believed Trent wanted to have sex with Lisa, and Walker had interfered with those plans. (R. 1306-1307). Mills testified Trent had no respect for black people and that Trent was accordingly upset that Walker told him what to do in his own home. (R. 1289).

Mills testified that after Walker had been handcuffed and subdued, Trent asked her to call the Petitioner. (R. 1227). She was too nervous to do it, and Trent eventually made the call himself. Mills overheard Trent instruct the Petitioner to come right over with his little black bag. (R. 1227). Immediately after finishing the conversation with the Petitioner, Trent called Bill Daniel. Trent told Daniel to bring his piece, which Mills understood to mean a gun. (R. 1228, 1309). Trent made a third sequential telephone call to Bruce Fullerton. Trent told Fullerton to bring a trunk, a sledgehammer and a chain saw. Fullerton never showed up that evening. (R. 1229).

The Petitioner arrived approximately fifteen minutes after all three phone calls had been made. (R. 1229). He

was instructed by Trent to sedate Walker. (R. 1229-1312). Thereafter, Mills saw the Petitioner inject Walker with some medicine he had brought with him. (R. 1231). Mills identified State's Exhibit 12 as the Magnesium Sulfate ampoules the Petitioner had brought. (R. 1236, 1001-1002). At some point in time, the Petitioner ran out of the drugs he had brought, and he asked Trent if he had anything he could use. (R. 1232). Trent became furious with the Petitioner for not bringing a sufficient quantity of drugs. (R. 1314). Trent got some valiums and tranxenes out of a closet and gave them to the Petitioner and instructed him to crush up the pills and mix them with vodka. (R. 1232-1233, 1315). Trent told the Petitioner, "you have to bring the right stuff if you want to be part of the team." (R. 1233). The Petitioner injected Walker three or four times. (R. 1234).

At some point in time, Trent took Mills and Lisa down the hall to another apartment. (R. 1239). Later, the hotel doorman advised Mills and Lisa that they could return to Trent's apartment. Upon re-entering Trent's apartment, Mills asked Trent what was going on. Trent told Mills that "we had to take him out." (R. 1239).

During that evening, Trent told Mills that the Petitioner had attempted suicide and had mental problems as the result of said attempt. (R. 1318). Trent further advised Mills that because of the Petitioner's mental problems, he (Trent) knew he could control and manipulate him. (R. 1318).

While Mills and Lisa remained in the bedroom of Trent's

apartment, the Petitioner entered the bedroom with blood all over his shirt and pants. (R. 1242). He was smiling and beaming. (R. 1322). After some discussion, Mills acknowledged that it appeared the Petitioner was oblivious to the blood and intended to walk straight out of Trent's apartment. Trent, however, stopped the Petitioner and told him he could not leave without first changing his shirt. (R. 1242, 1245, 1326).

Mills heard the Petitioner say to Trent, "Nice doing business with you." (R. 1322). Also, the Petitioner stated to Lisa and Mills, "You never seen me here tonight." (R. 1246).

Trent initially refused to permit Mills and Lisa to leave the apartment. However, after the Petitioner left, Trent finally consented to their leaving.

Mills returned to Trent's apartment the next night to help Trent clean up the apartment. (R. 1249). During the early morning hours, the Petitioner appeared. (R. 1251). While sitting at the dining room table, with Walker's body nearby on the floor, the Petitioner never said one word about the body. (R. 1333). It appeared to Mills the Petitioner had forgotten completely about the body and what had occurred the night before. (R. 1334). Mills thought the Petitioner was crazy. (R. 1334). Mills heard Trent and the Petitioner talking, and Trent told him, "he would own the [Petitioner's] medical license." (R. 1334).

The Petitioner left and reappeared later on Thursday at Trent's apartment with two young boys and a girl. (R. 1255). Again, the Petitioner never said anything or acknowledged

Walker's body, which was still in Trent's apartment. (R. 1338). Mills interpreted the Petitioner's actions as if he had truly forgotten about the body and what had occurred on Tuesday. (R. 1339).

Mills assisted Trent in putting Walker's body in a steamer trunk. She acknowledged that she had not been charged with any offense in connection with Walker's murder by the State Attorney' Office. (R. 1343).

Lisa Angelilli testified that Trent was going to help her mother out of her possible fifteen-year mandatory minimum prison sentence. (R. 1408). Lisa first saw Trent on Monday, July 23, 1984, at his apartment. Trent was doing cocaine, and Lisa and her mother did not stay. (R. 1407). The next day, July 24, 1984, Trent called and invited Lisa and her mother over to his Palm Beach apartment. (R. 1375). Lisa wanted to go to Trent's apartment in hopes of getting a job from Trent and also she knew cocaine would be made available by Trent. (R. 1411). Lisa and her mother arrived at Trent's apartment around 4:00 P.M. (R. 1376, 1422). Trent answered the door with a gun in his hand. (R. 1376). Lisa described the layout of Trent's apartment: you enter the apartment through the bedroom, walk through or pass the kitchen, and then enter into the dining room area. (R. 1378). Lisa, Mills and Trent proceeded to do cocaine for five hours. (R. 1378). Lisa and her mother left Trent's apartment around 10:00 P.M. to check on Mills' boyfriend. (R. 1425). Trent had threatened that evening to hurt Mills' boyfriend. (R. 1426). The boyfriend was not located, so Lisa and her mother went back to Trent's apartment. (R. 1427). Lisa wanted to go back to Trent's



apartment for the cocaine, and she was also very interested in Trent. (R. 1428).

After arriving back at Trent's apartment, Trent called Walker and told him to bring over some marijuana. (R. 1378). Walker brought some marijuana, and he proceeded to join in smoking marijuana, consuming cocaine and alcohol. (R. 1434). Trent and Walker talked about killing people. (R. 1434). Lisa thought Trent was paranoid, (R. 1415), and that Trent did not like being told what to do by anyone. (R. 1437).

Lisa testified that Ralph Walker subsequently became very violent with the use of a baseball bat. Walker indicated that he wanted to have sex with Lisa. (R. 1380). When Walker and Trent started fighting, a shot was fired. (R. 1382). Lisa and her mother left Trent's apartment, but Trent made them come back. (R. 1382).

While Trent was handcuffing Walker, Lisa's mother held a gun on Walker, and told him if he moved, she (Mills) would blow his head off. (R. 1440). Trent was not satisfied with just subduing Walker by handcuffing him. (R. 1442). According to Lisa, Trent was going to take care of the situation. (R. 1442). Trent told Walker that he was dead, and he was going home to his momma in a box. (R. 1442-1444).

Lisa overheard Trent call the Petitioner, Bill Daniel and Bruce Fullerton. (R. 1384).

After the Petitioner arrived, Trent instructed him to sedate Walker. (R. 1448). Trent continued to instruct the Petitioner what to do all night. (Ar. 1451).

Lisa saw the Petitioner inject Walker with drugs he had brought with him in his black bag. (R. 1386). Lisa believed

that approximately four to six injections were done. (R. 1386). When the Petitioner ran out of drugs, Trent yelled at him for not bringing enough drugs with him. The Petitioner told Trent, "he was sorry." (R. 1387).

Trent got some drugs out of a closet and gave them to the Petitioner, who crushed them up with vodka. (R. 1388). The Petitioner injected Walker four to six times with the mixed up concoction. (R. 1382). Lisa left the dining room area and went into the bedroom. Thereafter, Trent took Lisa and her mother down the hall to another apartment. The two remained there for approximately 30 to 45 minutes until an old man came and got them. (R. 1390). Lisa acknowledged that she had no idea of what was going on in Trent's apartment while she and her mother remained down at the other apartment. (R. 1457).

When Lisa returned to Trent's apartment, Lisa heard moaning coming from the dining room area. (R. 1391). Trent turned up the volume of the T.V. (R. 1391).

Shortly thereafter, Lisa walked to the bathroom and observed the Petitioner with a knife in his hand making a stabbing action. The Petitioner was laughing. (R. 1393-1395, 1459-1460). Approximately 15 to 20 minutes later, the Petitioner walked into the bedroom. The Petitioner's shirt was bloody. (R. 1396).

After some discussion, Lisa acknowledged that the Petitioner appeared as if he was going to walk out of Trent's apartment with the bloody shirt on. (R. 1473). Lisa acknowledged that the Petitioner appeared unconcerned with walking

through the hotel lobby past the desk clerk with a bloody shirt on. (R. 1473).

Lisa overheard the Petitioner say to Trent that it was nice doing business with him and to call again. (R. 1399). The Petitioner stated to Lisa and her mother that "they never saw him there." (R. 1398-1399).

Lisa testified she believed that Trent had planned and orchestrated Walker's death. (R. 1477). Lisa felt that Trent was the man in control. (R. 1478).

On Thursday, Lisa returned to Trent's apartment. At that time, Trent advised her "he was going to burn Walker." (R. 1479). Trent told Lisa that "Walker had to die because he knew too much." (R. 1479). Trent had made it clear to Lisa that when people mess with him as Walker had done, that he (Trent) kills them. (R. 1481).

The last witness the State called in their case-in-chief was Bill Daniel. Daniel had known Trent for approximately thirteen to fourteen years. (R. 1494). Daniel had met Mills approximately two to three months before the murder at Trent's apartment. Daniel was under the impression Trent was working a deal for Mills to get out of her cocaine charge. (R. 1495).

Daniel stated that on the night of July 24, 1984, Trent called him and instructed him to come over. (R. 1496). Within 30 minutes of arriving at Trent's apartment, Trent advised him that he was going to kill Walker. (R. 1531).

Daniel saw the Petitioner inject Walker. At some point in time, Petitioner stated that his drugs would not hold any-

body out for very long, and Trent was asked what drugs he had. (R. 1505-1506). Daniel testified that the Petitioner crushed up some pills and mixed them with vodka and proceeded to inject Walker again. (R. 1506). The Petitioner remarked to Daniel, "I wonder what [Walker's] blood alcohol level is now." (R. 1509).

Daniel offered to take Walker out of Trent's apartment, whereupon the Petitioner replied, "We can't let him go," to which Trent replied, "No problem, we will kill him." (R. 1510).

After awhile, Daniel left the dining room area and went into the bedroom. While there, he later observed the Petitioner holding a knife, and he appeared happy, like a kid "with a new toy." (R. 1513). Approximately 15 minutes later, the Petitioner walked into the bedroom and told Trent, "It is over." (R. 1513).

Daniel testified that the Petitioner appeared like he wasn't there or could have cared less where he was. (R. 1554-1555). Inbetween injections of Walker by the Petitioner, the Petitioner heard Daniel coughing and offered to examine him with a stethoscope. After listening to his chest, the Petitioner advised Daniel that he should quit smoking. (R. 1515).

Daniel heard Trent tell the Petitioner to change his shirt before leaving the apartment as someone would notice the blood. (R. 1565). Trent told Daniel the night of the murder that he (Trent) had always had the fancy of killing "a nigger." (R. 1571). Daniel also talked Trent out of wanting to

kill Mills and Lisa. (R. 1553).

In support of his announced intention to rely upon the defense of insanity, the Petitioner presented the testimony of several witnesses.

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