IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED SID J. WHILE

AUG 24 1987

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Deputy Clerk

J	OH	N	S.	FREUND
_	\sim 11	7.4		TIMOND

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

CASE NO. 70,565

RESPONDENTS BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

EDDIE J. BELL Assistant Attorney General 111 Georgia Avenue, Suite 204 West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 (305) 837-5062

Counsel for Respondent

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

POINT I

This Court should answer the certified question in the negative. This Court disapproved of the old instruction on insanity because it did not apprise the jury that the State had the burden of proving sanity beyond a reasonable doubt. By explicitl instructing the jury that the State had the burden of proving sanity beyond a reasonable doubt, the trial court cured the defect which this court had detected in the old instruction. Where the trial court's instruction was a correct statement of the law of insanity as it existed at the time of Petitioner's trial, the trial court did not err in refusing to give a requested instruction similiar to the instruction on insanity later adopted by this Court.

POINT II

motion to reduce the charge to second degree murder where there was legally sufficient evidence to submit the first-degree murder charge to the jury. The State presented evidence that refuted Petitioner's claim that he was insane at the time of the offense. This evidence was sufficient for the jury to reject Petitioner's insanity defense. Petitioner's action during and after the killing was sufficient for the court to submit to the jury the question of premeditation.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT'S HOLDING IN YOHN V. STATE, 476 So.2d 123 (Fla. 1986), WAS NOT VIOLATED IN THE PRESENT CASE WHERE THE TRIAL COURT INSTRUCTED THE JURY THAT THE STATE MUST PROVE BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT THAT THE DEFENDANT WAS SANE.

The trial court provided the following instruction to the jury on the defense of insanity:

Now, insanity. An issue in this case is whether this defendant was legally insane when the crime allegedly was committed. All persons are presumed to be sane, however, if the evidence causes you to have a reasonable doubt concerning the defendant's sanity, then the presumption of sanity vanishes and the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant was sane.

If the defendant was legally insane, he is not quilty. To find him legally insane there are three elements. These three elements must be shown to the point where you have a reasonable doubt about That the defendant had a his sanity. mental infirmity, defect or disease; that this condition causes the defendant to lose his ability to understand or reason accurately, and because of the loss of these abilities, the defendant did not know what he was doing or did not know what would result from his actions or did not know what was wrong although he knew what he was doing and its consequences.

Now, in determining the issue of insanity you must consider the testimony of expert and non-expert witnesses. The question you must answer is not whether the defendant is legally insane today or has always been legally insane but simply if the defendant was legally insane at the time the crime allegedly was

committed.

When a person tried for an offense shall be acquitted for the cause of insanity, the court shall then determine that he defendant presently meets the criteria set forth by law.

The court shall commit the defendant to the Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services for involuntary hospitalization or placement or shall order that he receive out patient treatment at any other appropriate facility or treatment on an out patient basis or shall discharge the defendant. (R.2442-2444).

This instruction cured the problem with the old insanity instruction identified in Yohn v. State, supra. The instruction given made it explicit that the state had the burden of proving sanity beyond a reasonable doubt.

In Yohn v. State, supra, this Court disapproved of the former standard jury instruction on insanity because the instruction did not adequately apprise jury that once a reasonable doubt is created in its mind of the defendant's insanity, then the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt the defendant's sanity. The trial court in the present case cured the defect in the former instruction by instructing the jury that the State had the burden of proving Petitioner's sanity beyond a reasonable doubt.

As Petitioner concedes, this Court had not adopted the new instruction on insanity at the time of Petitioner's trial.

Although the new instruction had been proposed, the trial court

had no way of knowing that this Court would eventually adopt the new instruction. Therefore, even if Petitioner's requested instruction on insanity accorded with the proposed instruction which was later adopted, it was not error for the trial court to refuse to give the requested instruction, where the instruction given adequately apprised the jury of the State's burden of proving sanity beyond a reasonable doubt, and the instruction given complied with the law as it existed at the time of Petitioner's trial.

In a labored effort to establish that the trial court's instruction was inadequate and burden-shifting, Petitioner dissects the instruction paragraph by paragraph, and endeavors to construe each paragraph separate, and out of context with the whole of the instruction. However, a reviewing court should look to the entire instruction rather than to one statement out of context in determining whether an instruction is error or misleads jury. Yanks v. State, 261 So. 2d 533 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1972); Cronin v. State, 470 So. 2d 802,804 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985); Diez v. State, 359 So. 2d 55,56 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1978). The trial court specifically instructed the jury that the state had the burden of proving sanity. Therefore, a reasonable jury would not ignore this instruction and shift the burden to the defense.

In support of his argument that the instruction given by the trial court was inadequate, Petitioner points out the difference between the instruction given by the trial court and

the new instruction which was later adopted by this Court. However, in resolving this issue, this Court's focus should not be on the difference between the instruction given and the instruction which was later adopted; instead, the focus should be on whether the instruction given was clear, comprehensive, and correct. State v. Freeman, 380 So.2d 1288 (Fla. 1980). Where the instruction given by the trial court adequately apprised the jury of the State's burden of proving sanity beyond a reasonable doubt, the giving of such instruction did not constitute error because the instruction differed in some aspects from the insanity instruction later adopted by this court.

Petitioner subtly suggests that <u>Yohn</u> requires this Court to analysis the instruction given paragraph by paragraph. However, rather than analyzing each paragraph of the old instruction out of context with the whole, this Court in <u>Yohn</u> only cited to Judge Anstead's review of the former instruction in <u>Reese v, State</u>, 452 So.2d 1079 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984), to determine whether the former instruction said anything about a burden of proof. This court in <u>Yohn</u>, as well as Judge Anstead in <u>Reese</u>, recognized that the bottom line problem with the old instruction was that it did not inform the jury that the state must prove anything in regard to the sanity issue. As previously noted, the trial court in the present case cured this problem by explicitly instructing the jury that the State had the burden of providing sanity beyond a reasonable doubt. Therefore, this Court does not

have to review each paragraph of the given instruction to determine whether the state's burden of proving sanity was mentioned, as Judge Anstead did in Reese. Rather than a paragraph-by-paragraph disapproving the old instruction, as Petitioner contends, this Court in Yohn and Judge Anstead in Reese only examined each paragraph of the old instruction to determine whether it mentioned the State's burden of proving sanity. If Judge Anstead concluded that the old instruction suggested that the defendant must establish a reasonable doubt as to his sanity, Judge Anstead's conclusion was based only on the fact that the old instruction never mentioned that the State had the burden of proving sanity beyond a reasonable doubt. explicitly informing the jury of the State's burden of proving sanity, the trial court in the present case cleared up any confusion concerning whether the State had the burden of proving sanity beyond a reasonable doubt. Thus the trial court in the present case clearly complied with the mandate of Yohn by instructing the jury of the State's burden or proving sanity. Since the later adopted insanity instruction was not the law in Florida at the time of Petitioner's trial, the trial court was not in error for refusing to give the requested instruction, which was identical to the later adopted instruction.

Petitioner also contends that the instruction given by the trial court was inadequate because it apprised the jury that Petitioner could be discharged. However, Petitioner once again

takes a phrase out of context in a effort to discredit the instruction. If the paragraph from which this phrase is taken is considered in its entirety, the jury was only apprised that if it returned a verdict of not quilty by reason of insanity, the court could either commit Petitioner to the Department of Health and Rehabilitation Services or discharge Petitioner. This is a proper statement of the law on the issue. See Fla.R.Crim.Pro. The trial court can involuntarily hospitalize a defendant found not guilty by reason of insanity only after a determination that the defendant meets the criteria set forth by law. criteria is not met, the defendant has to be discharged. the trial court's instruction on this issue was a correct statement of the law. The trial court cannot be held in error for giving an instruction that correctly states the law. addition, the instruction given by the trial court only had minor semantic differences between the treatment of this issue in the later adopted instruction.

The instruction given by the trial court <u>sub judice</u> adequately apprised the jury that the State had the burden of proving sanity beyond a reasonable doubt. Therefore, the trial court did not err in denying Petitioner's requested instruction. <u>Zuberi v. State</u>, 343 So.2d 664 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979); <u>Gilbert v. State</u>, So.2d (Fla. 4th DCA 1986). However, even if it was conceded that the trial court erred in denying the instruction, such error would be harmless beyond a reasonable

doubt in view of the overwhelming evidence establishing

Petitioner's guilt of first-degree murder. Collins v. State, 418

So.2d 318 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982). Respondent will discuss this evidence in Point II.

Accordingly, this Court should answer the certified question negatively.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING PETITIONER'S MOTION FOR JUDGMENT OF ACQUITTAL AS TO FIRST DEGREE MURDER AND REQUEST TO REDUCE THE CHARGE TO SECOND DEGREE MURDER.

Petitioner contends that the evidence taken in the light most favorable to the State does not support a conviction for premeditated first degree murder. Respondent submits that Petitioner's conviction for premeditated first degree murder is supported by substantial, competent evidence.

In determining the propriety of the trial court's denial of Petitioner's motion for judgment of acquittal, this Court should be guided by the well-settled principle that a defendant, in moving for a judgment of acquittal, admits all facts stated in the evidence adduced and every conclusion favorable to the prosecution that a jury might fairly and reasonably infer from the evidence. Lynch v. State, 293 So.2d 44,45 (Fla. 1974); T.J.T. v. State, 460 So.2d 508,510 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1984); Herman v. State, 472 So.2d 770 (Fla. 5th DCA 1985). A motion for judgment of acquittal should not be granted unless it is apparent that no legally sufficient evidence has been submitted under which a jury could legally find a verdict of guilty. Busch v. State, 466 So.2d 1073,1079 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1984); Lynch v. State, supra. Because conflicts in the evidence and the credibility of the witnesses has to be resolved by the jury, the granting of a motion for judgment of acquittal cannot be based on evidentiary conflict or witness credibility. Lynch v. State, supra; Hitchcock v. State, 413 So.2d 741,745 (Fla. 1982).

Preston v. State, 444 So.2d 352 (Fla. 1958); Pinkney v. State, 142 So.2d 144,147 (Fla. 2d DCA 1962). The record reveals that the State presented legally sufficient evidence for the trial court to submit this question to the jury. Lynch v. State, supra.

Premeditation is a fully-formed conscious purpose to kill, which exists in the mind of the perpetrator for a sufficient length of time to permit of reflection. Sireci v. State, 399 So.2d 964,967 (Fla. 1981); Provenzano v. State, 11 F.L.W. 541 (Fla. October 16, 1986). There is no prescribed length of time which must elapse between the formation of the purpose to kill and the execution of the intent; a few moment's reflection will suffice. Provenzano v. State, supra, relying on McCutchen v. State, 96 So.2d 152 (Fla. 1957). The testimony of Eleanor Louise Mills, Lisa Angelilli Mills, and Bill Daniels - who witnessed the protracted and tortuous killing of Ralph Walker - provided the jury legally sufficient evidence from which the jury could conclude that Petitioner had a fully-formed conscious purpose to kill Ralph Walker.

According to the testimony of Eleanor and Lisa Mills, John Trent and Ralph Walker became involved in a struggle prior to the arrival of Petitioner (R.1222,1379-1382). John Trent

overcame Ralph Walker, and put a gun to Walker's head as Walker lay on the floor (R.1223). Trent then told Eleanor Mills to hold the gun on Walker, while Trent placed handcuffs on Walker (R.1224). Trent then gagged Walker with a bathroom towel (R.1226). While Walker lay helpless on the floor, Trent told Walker that he was going to send him back to Pittsburgh in a box (R.1225). Trent then asked Eleanor Mills to look up Petitioner's telephone number (R.1227). Because Mills was too nervous to find the number, Trent got Petitioner's number from the operator, and called Petitioner (R.1227). Trent told Petitioner to get there right away and to bring his little black bag (R.1227). Trent also called Bill Daniels and Bruce Fullerton, and Trent told Fullerton to bring a trunk, a sledgehammer and a chain saw (R.1228).

Petitioner arrived about fifteen minutes after receiving Trent's call (R.1228). Bill Daniels arrived shortly afterward. Upon arriving, Daniels heard Ralph Walker moan, "Don't let them kill me (R.1502). Trent told Daniels, in the presence of Petitioner, that "he was going to send Ralph [Walker] home to his mama in a box". (R.1504). Within ten minutes after arriving, Petitioner began injecting Ralph Walker with the drugs that Petitioner had brought in his bag (R.1231). When Petitioner ran out of the drugs in his bag, Petitioner asked Trent did Trent have anything that Petitioner could use (R.1232). Trent asked Petitioner whether Petitioner had some kind of drugs that are

supposed to be killer drugs (R.1505). Petitioner answered no and that he would stock up better next time (R.1505). Trent then gave Petitioner some valium pills, which Petitioner crushed with a mortar and pestle, mixed with vodka, sucked up in a syringe, and then injected into Ralph Walker (R.1506). During the injection, Trent stated that Petitioner was going to do Trent a little favor so that Trent would push through a loan for Petitioner to reopen his medical practice (R.1507). Petitioner injected Walker about twelve (12) times with the valium and vodka mixture, over a twenty-five to forty-five minute period (R.1508).

After the valium ran out, Trent provided Petitioner with tranxenes, which Petitioner mixed with vodka and then injected into Walker, making about five or six injections (R.1508-1509). Then Petitioner injected Walker with the straight vodka (R.1509). While Petitioner was doing this, Petitioner walked by Bill Daniels and said, "I wonder what [Walker's] blood alcohol level is now" (R.1509). After another pause in the injections, Petitioner came in front of Daniels and said, "You know, we can't let him go" (R.1510). Trent answered, "No problem, we'll kill him (R.1510). From that point on, Petitioner started to give Walker more injections with alcohol, and then Petitioner began to inject Walker with air (R.1510). Petitioner told Trent that he could not believe that Petitioner had pumped that much air in Walker and not cause an embolism (R.1510).

Unable to take it anymore, Daniels then left the living room, and went into the bedroom (R.1510).

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